IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

DA MAR 24 1990 MAR 24 1990 Denoty Clork

v.

CASE NO. 75,878

RANDY LYLES,

Respondent.

### PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BRADLEY R. BISCHOFF ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 714224

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

###

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, plaintiff/appellee below, will be referred to herein as "the State". Respondent, Randy Lyles, defendant/appellant below, will be referred to herein as "Respondent". A copy of the slip opinion of the case on review is attached hereto as "Appendix A".

References to the record on appeal will be by the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number. References to the transcript of the sentencing hearing will be by the symbol "S" followed by the appropriate page number.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Respondent in this case was convicted by a jury of ( R 27). The sentencing guidelines aggravated battery. recommended a sentence of  $2\frac{1}{2}$  to  $3\frac{1}{2}$  years. (R 54). At sentencing, the State adduced proof that Respondent had threatened а witness and had three subsequent unscored misdemeanor convictions. The trial court departed upward and sentenced Respondent to ten years in prison. (R 54).

The sentencing hearing was held on April 7, 1989. (S 1). The trial court executed a Statement for Reasons for Departure from Sentencing Guidelines on the same day, but filed the statement on April 10, 1989. (R 57).

Respondent appealed his sentence and conviction to the First District Court of Appeal. In a per curiam opinion issued on April 5, 1990, the court affirmed the conviction but reversed the sentence pursuant to the mandate of <u>Ree v. State</u>, infra, but certified a question to this Court as a matter of great public importance (Appendix "A", p.4).

Notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction to answer the certified question was filed on April 16, 1990.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State requests that this Honorable Court answer the certified question in the negative and hold that where written reasons for departure from the sentencing guidelines are issued within a few days of oral imposition of sentence that, since no prejudice attaches to the defendant, issuing the written reasons at such time is not error, or at worst harmless error.

Such a holding would prevent further clogging of already overburdened court dockets and prevent useless remanding of cases for reimposition of the original sentence.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE

WHETHER A SENTENCE MUST BE REVERSED AND REMANDED FOR RESENTENCING PURSUANT TO THE OPTIONS PROVIDED IN REE V. STATE, 14 F.L.W. 565 (FLA. NOV. 16, 1989), WHEN THERE IS NO SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE REASONS FOR DEPARTURE FROM THE GUIDELINES WHICH WERE PRONOUNCED THE ORALLY  $\mathbf{AT}$ IMPOSITION OF SENTENCE AND THE WRITTEN REASONS WHICH WERE ENTERED THE SAME DAY OR WITHIN A FEW DAYS OF THE IMPOSITION OF SENTENCE?

The State respectfully requests that this Court answer the certified question in the negative.

The Respondent in the instant case was convicted of aggravated battery. (R 27). Respondent's recommended guidelines sentence was  $2\frac{1}{2}$  to  $3\frac{1}{2}$  years in prison, but the trial judge departed upward and sentenced Respondent to ten years in prison. (R 54). The sentencing hearing in this case was held on April 7, 1989. (S 1). The trial court executed a Statement for Reasons for Departure from Sentencing Guidelines on April 7, 1989 (R 57, 58), but the statement was not filed until April 10, 1989. (R 57). The written reasons comported with the oral pronouncement.

In a per curiam opinion, the First District Court of Appeal affirmed Respondent's convictions but reversed as to the guidelines departure sentence on the basis of <u>Ree v. State</u>, 14 F.L.W. 565 (Fla. Nov. 16, 1989), <u>rehearing pending</u>. The District Court stated:

> The reasons given by the trial court for departing from the recommended guidelines sentence, appellant's having threatened a

witness, and three misdemeanor convictions which could not be scored because they occurred subsequent to the instant offense, are valid. <u>Knotts v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 826 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); <u>Merriex v. State</u>, 521 So.2d 249 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988).

These reasons for departure were orally pronounced at the sentence hearing. The trial court's written statement of reasons for departure, containing these same reasons, was signed the same day as the sentencing hearing, and was filed three days later. Because the record does not demonstrate that the written reasons for departure were actually issued at the sentencing hearing, we find that we are bound by the recent Florida Supreme Court opinion in <u>Ree v. State</u>, 14 F.L.W. 565 (Fla. Nov. 16, 1989), rehearing pending, which held that the trial court must produce its written reasons for departure from the sentencing guidelines at the same hearing at which sentence is imposed...

In situations such as this case presents, where there is no significant difference between the reasons for departure orally pronounced at the imposition of sentence and the written reasons entered the day or within a few days of the same sentencing hearing, we can find no prejudice to the defendant, or any logical reason for remand so that the trial court may reimpose the same sentence using the same written We would be inclined to find no reasons. error in this case, or at worst, harmless But like our sister court in Holmes error. v. State, 15 F.L.W. D487 (Fla. 4th DCA Feb. 21, 1990), we acknowledge that until the supreme court alters its position, we are bound by Ree.

(slip opinion, infra, p.2-3).

In <u>Holmes v. State</u>, supra, the Fourth District Court of Appeal wrote:

We already "reluctantly" held in Ree v. State, 512 So.2d 1085 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987), that the oral pronouncement and the written reasons must be said and produced at the same

instant in time and any that delay (presumably as little as one hour) between the actual hearing and the written reasons would be unacceptable. However, our Ree panel obviously did not like that result and certified the question hoping for a reversal. It was not to be, for the Supreme Court, in a very recent opinion upheld our earlier Ree decision. Ree v. State, 14 F.L.W. 565 (Fla. November 16, 1989).

The Supreme Court, citing other cases to support the proposition that the written reasons must be contemporaneous with the oral pronouncement, held that the word "contemporaneous" means "at the time of sentencing." In other words, they construed "contemporaneous" as being synonymous with "instantaneous".

We are required, most properly so, to adhere to the dictates of our superiors in Tallahassee, yet we are still unhappy with this result. The big dictionary in our law library, Webster's Third New International Dictionary (Unabridged 1966), gives as its first definition of "contemporaneous":

l. existing or occurring during the same time (as during a year, decade or longer span of time)...

The smaller, but still large dictionary in this author's chambers, The American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language (1981), defines contemporaneous as:

Originating, existing or happening during the same *period* of time. (emphasis supplied).

We see nothing in those definitions mandating that the sentence and the written reasons be produced at the same moment in time or *instantaneously*.

A "contemporary" of this author would be any judge on this court. On this very panel, there is an age differential of seventeen years. To be contemporaneous, we do not all need to be the same age, never mind all be born on the Fourth of July. By the same token, a lapse of a mere seventeen days between the sentence and the written order of upward departure on the same defendant in the same case is certainly within an acceptable span or period of time and should satisfy any dictionary definition of the word "contemporaneous".

Parenthetically, we would also point out that the oral reasons given for the departure judice at the sentencing hearing sub dovetailed with those set forth the in subsequently written order, except that the former are more wordy and the latter includes case citations. Accordingly, there is no prejudice defendant, particularly to the no change in the actual since there is sentence imposed.

The dicta herein should not be interpreted as a venting of the spleen. A motion for a rehearing has been filed in the Supreme Court in Ree. Perhaps our views would prove helpful.

Holmes, supra at 487, 488.

The dissatisfaction of the various district courts with <u>Ree</u> <u>v. State</u> is shared by the State. The result in the instant case is illustrative: because the trial court did not file its written reasons for departure instantaneously upon pronouncing those reasons at Respondents sentencing hearing, the appellate court was required to remand the case to the trial court for reimposition of <u>the same sentence</u> using the same written reasons. This result represents an unconscionable waste of judicial time and resources at a juncture when such resources are already severely taxed to the limit, and further provides no more than an illusory benefit to criminal defendants.

As examples of these limited judicial resources and clogged court dockets, the State would refer this Court to <u>Grube v.</u> <u>State</u>, 529 So.2d 789 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), and <u>Terry v. State</u>, 547

- 7 -

So.2d 712 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), wherein the First District granted motions by the Public Defender to withdraw from up to one hundred and up to one hundred and fifty cases, respectively, due to staffing shortages. The Public Defender for the Second Judicial Circuit is currently seeking leave to withdraw from approximately three hundred appellate cases. <u>Motion to Withdraw from Appeals</u> and for Authorization to Withdraw from Future Appeals, (Fla. 1st DCA, filed May 10, 1990).

As further evidence of excessive appellate caseloads, the State would refer this Court to its recent decisions in <u>In Re</u> <u>Order on Prosecution of Criminal Appeals by the Tenth Judicial</u> <u>Circuit Public Defender</u>, 15 F.L.W. S278 (Fla. May 3, 1990), and <u>Hatten v. State</u>, 15 F.L.W. S282 (Fla. May 3, 1990). In <u>In Re</u> <u>Order</u>, supra, this Court cited a study by a special committee of the Florida Judicial Council, which concluded that

> the problem of the criminal workload within the judicial system of the State of Florida is a problem of volume that cannot be regulated, but must be dealt with as it occurs. Not only does the problem exist now in crisis proportions, but is appears that the workload in regard to all parts of the criminal justice system is likely to increase.

In Re Order, supra at S278.

This Court noted that the backlog of criminal appeals to the Second District Court awaiting briefing "has grown from 408 cases in June 1986 to 1,005 cases in March 1989...(t)he Public Defender for the Tenth Judicial Circuit ... has estimated that currently as many as 1700 cases could be awaiting the filing of appellate briefs." <u>In Re Order</u>, supra at S278.

- 8 -

The situation created by this Court's decision in Ree v. State, supra, is analogous to that created by Jenkins v. State, 444 So.2d 947 (Fla. 1984), wherein this Court held that costs for the Crimes Compensation Fund and F.D.L.E. Training Fund (totalling 12 Dollars) which were imposed without notice or an opportunity to be heard, would have to be stricken. As a result of Jenkins, the routine practice for the State became to concede error on this point in numerous subsequent appeals and thereby have the case remanded to the trial courts for reimposition of the same costs following notice and an opportunity to be heard.

The end result of this exercise was to further clog already burdened court dockets and reimpose on defendants the same costs that they were initially assessed. The defendants would neither lose nor benefit, but the judicial system bore the burden, to the detriment of all.

Similarly, the instant case demonstrates the same waste of resources. Pursuant to <u>Ree v. State</u>, supra, the Respondent's case was ordered remanded to the trial court for reimposition of the same sentence that he initially received, resulting in duplicative proceedings.

In addition, the Court's opinion in <u>Ree v. State</u> overlooks the long-standing jurisprudential doctrine that a court's oral pronouncement of sentence controls, as the written sentence is merely a record of the actual sentence pronounced in open court. <u>Taylor v. State</u>, 425 So.2d 1191 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); <u>Timmons v.</u> <u>State</u>, 453 So.2d 143 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); Bivins v. State, 454

- 9 -

So.2d 723 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); <u>Jeffrey v. State</u>, 456 So.2d 1307 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984).

In the final analysis, it is clear that Ree v. State mandates needless resentencing procedures where no prejudice to the defendant can be ascertained. As Justice Overton noted in his dissent in Ree v. State, supra, the "instantaneous" written departure reasons requirement is an elevation of form over A defendant is on notice as to the reasons for substance. his/her departure sentence at the moment sentence is orally Α subsequent written memorandum of that pronounced. pronouncement in no way changes the sentence or the notice thereof and opportunity to appeal. As the First District noted in its opinion below, in reality there is "no error in this case, or at worst, harmless error." (slip opinion, infra at 3).

The State would in addition alert this Court that the same question was certified by the First District in <u>Williams v.</u> <u>State</u>, 15 F.L.W. D895 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) (Florida Supreme Court Case No. 75,880). The State's brief in <u>Williams</u> has been filed in this Court contemporaneously with the instant brief.

- 10 -

#### CONCLUSION

Petitioner respectfully requests that this Honorable Court answer the certified question in the negative and recognize that a written departure order issued no more than several days after the sentencing hearing is still "contemporaneous", and that the issuance of such an order is not error or, at the worst, harmless error.