#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

JUN 18 1990

CASE NO. 75,878

Deputy Clork

DLEAK, SUPREME COUNT

RANDY LYLES,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

### ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

BARBARA M. LINTHICUM PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

NANCY L. SHOWALTER
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT FLA. BAR #513199

#

#### ISSUE I

WHETHER A SENTENCE MUST BE REVERSED AND REMANDED FOR RESENTENCING PURSUANT TO THE OPTIONS PROVIDED IN REE V.STATE, 14 F.L.W. 565 (FLA. NOV. 16, 1989), WHEN THERE IS NO SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE REASONS FOR DEPARTURE FROM THE GUIDELINES WHICH WERE ORALLY PRONOUNCED AT THE IMPOSITION OF SENTENCE AND THE WRITTEN REASONS WHICH WERE ENTERED THE SAME DAY OR WITHIN A FEW DAYS OF THE IMPOSITION OF SENTENCE?

This question should be answered with a qualified "yes". This conclusion is mandated by this Court's recent decision in Pope v. State, 15 F.L.W. S243 (Fla. April 26, 1990), which precludes the trial court in the instant case from imposing a departure sentence on remand. Although there may be "no significant difference" between the orally pronounced reasons and the untimely written reasons, they are still both invalid. Thus, resentencing to a guidelines sentence — one of the options provided in Ree v. State — is necessary.

In <u>Pope</u>, this Court, relying on <u>State v. Jackson</u>, 478

So.2d 1054 (Fla. 1985), receded from on other grounds,

<u>Wilkerson v. State</u>, 513 So.2d 664 (Fla. 1987), and <u>Shull v.</u>

<u>Dugger</u>, 515 So.2d 748 (Fla. 1987), remanded for the imposition of a guidelines sentence where the trial court had failed to provide written reasons for departure. <u>Jackson</u> requires compliance with Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, Rule

3.701(d)(11), which mandates that departure sentences be "accompanied by a written statement delineating the reasons for departure". Orally stated reasons are invalid.

Shull held that where the initial reasons for departure are later held to be invalid, the case must be remanded for imposition of a guidelines sentence. This result avoids multiple appeals, multiple sentencings, and unwarranted efforts to justify an original departure. Pope, at S244.

Reading these decisions together in Pope, this Court held:

Effectively, <u>Jackson</u> and <u>Shull</u> both determined that at the point of remand no valid reasons for departure existed under the rule. <u>Jackson</u> said oral reasons were invalid and required resentencing. <u>Shull</u> said invalid reasons, even if written, must be remanded only for a guidelines sentence.

Applying the principles of <u>Jackson</u> and <u>Shull</u>, and for the same policy reasons, we hold that when an appellate court reverses a departure sentence because there are no written reasons, the court must remand for resentencing with no possibility of departure from the guidelines.

<u>Pope</u>, at S244. Applying the principles of <u>Jackson</u>, <u>Shull</u>, <u>Ree</u>, and <u>Pope</u> to the instant case results in resentencing with no possibility of departure.

There are a number of criteria which a departure sentence must meet in order to be valid. The sentence must be (1) accompanied by contemporaneous, (2) written reasons for departure. Ree, Jackson, Rule 3.701(d)(11). The departure sentence must be, (3) based on circumstances which reasonably justify the departure and, (4) the facts supporting the departure must be shown by a preponderance of the evidence.

F.S. section, 921.001(5). The departure reasons, (5) must not include factors relating to prior arrests without convictions, or, (6) factors relating to the instant offense for which

convictions have not been obtained. Rule 3.701 (d)(11). None of these criteria can be said to be any more or less important than the others. All of the criteria must be met for there to be a valid departure sentence. If the sentence fails to meet any of the criteria, it is an invalid departure sentence.

Here, the orally pronounced reasons were invalid.

Jackson. The untimely written reasons were also inval\_d. Ree;

(A 2). Thus, since no valid reasons for departure existed at the time of remand, under the principles of Pope, this case should be remanded with instructions to impose a guidelines sentence.

The petitioner does not address the applicability of <u>Pope</u> to the instant case. Instead, the petitioner asserts that the District Court remanded this case "for reimposition of <u>the same sentence</u> using the same written reasons." (PB 7). This is incorrect. First, as discussed above, the imposition of the same departure sentence would be improper under <u>Pope</u>. The District Court did not have the benefit of this Court's decision in <u>Pope</u> at the time of its opinion in the instant case.

Secondly, the District Court's opinion remands this case for resentencing in compliance with Ree, which contains three options, including the imposition of a guidelines sentence. The District Court's opinion in no way states that the trial court must impose the "same sentence."

Petitioner further argues that a defendant is not

prejudiced by not remanding the illegal sentence because the defendant is "on notice" as to the reasons for the departure sentence at the moment sentence is orally pronounced (PB 10). This is also incorrect. Appellate review is limited to the trial court's written reasons. <u>Jackson</u> recognizes that orally stated reasons are "fraught with disadvantages" in that the reasons for departure that an appellate court might take from the record of the sentencing might not have been the trial court's reasons and written sentencing orders often contain far less than what a trial judge states during the hearing. <u>Id.</u>, at 1054, quoting <u>Boyton v. State</u>, 473 So.2d 703 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985).

If certain reasons for departure are discussed at the sentencing hearing, but others appear on the written order, the defendant will not have the opportunity to present an argument or evidence on these new reasons. As this Court recognized in Ree, this would be a violation of due process:

We agree with Judge Sharp that the sentencing guidelines and accompanying rules do not permit a trial court to decide a sentence before giving counsel an opportunity to make argument. Fundamental principles of justice require that decisions restricting a person's liberty be made only after a neutral magistrate gives due consideration to any argument and evidence that are proper.

Id., at 566. Contemporaneous written reasons are logically and legally necessary when a trial court imposes a departure sentence. The petitioner's claims of clogged trial court dockets is not a persuasive reason for ignoring a defendant's due process rights (A 8-9). If remands are in fact causing clogged trial dockets, the solution is for trial judges to initially comply with the Rules of Criminal Procedure, not to deny defendant's the ability to correct a wrong. Even ignoring Pope, remand for resentencing is never an useless act in light of the three options discussed in Ree. It can not be assumed that a trial judge will always impose the same sentence.

The petitioner argues that Ree "overlooks the long-standing jurisprudential doctrine that a court's oral pronouncement of sentence controls, as the written sentence is merely a record of the actual sentence pronounced in open court" (PB 9). The petitioner overlooks the fact that the sentencing guidelines have, at least since <u>Jackson</u> was decided in 1985, required written reasons for departure. The cases cited by the petitioner are inapplicable to the instant case.

In conclusion, this Court should answer the certified question in the affirmative, qualifying that answer with regard to its recent decision in <a href="Pope">Pope</a>. Where the trial court improperly imposes a departure sentence without providing contemporaneous written reasons to support the departure, the proper remedy is remand for imposition of a guidelines sentence.

### ISSUE II

THE REASONS PROVIDED BY THE TRIAL COURT FOR DEPARTING FROM THE GUIDELINES SENTENCE ARE INVALID.

The prosecutor argued, and the trial court adopted as its reason for departure, threats to a witness by the respondent and three unscored misdemeanor convictions. The trial court imposed a five cell departure sentence (R 56). F.R. Crim. P., 3.988. The First District Court of Appeal affirmed the reasons for departure, citing to Knotts v. State, 533 So.2d 826 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988) and Merriex v. State, 521 So.2d 249 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988) (A 2).

The trial court's first reason for departure is invalid.

The trial court relied upon a factor specifically prohibited by Rule 3.701(d)(ll), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, which states:

Reasons for deviating from the guidelines shall not include factors relating to the instant offense for which convictions have not been obtained.

This Court, in <u>State v. Tyner</u>, 506 So.2d 405 (Fla. 1987) answering a question of great public importance, held that a trial court is not permitted to consider "any factors relating to the instant offense as a basis for departure from the guidelines if such factor would have subjected the defendant to prosecution for a crime of which he has not been convicted".

Recently, this position was reaffirmed in <u>Lambert v. State</u>, 545 So.2d 838, 841 (Fla. 1989):

This Court has consistently required prior conviction for guideline departure in

orginial sentencing proceedings. See, State v. Jaggers, 526 So.2d 682, 684 (Fla. 1988) ("Charges of criminal activity alone have never provided valid grounds for departure."); Williams v. State, 500 So.2d 501, 503 (Fla. 1988) ("permitting departures for an offense for which a defendant has not been convicted is clearly prohibited.")

See also, Wesson v. State, 15 F.L.W. S177 (Fla. March 29, 1990) (conduct relating to offenses without convictions cannot support departure).

The Second District Court of Appeal has held that threats to a witness cannot stand as a valid reason for departure where the defendant was not convicted of that offemse. Allen v.

State, 479 So.2d 257 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985); McNealy v. State, 502 So.2d 54 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987).

The First District Court of Appeal has rejected a strict interpretation of Rule 3.701(d)(11), which it felt would preclude a trial court from considering anything that occurred before or after the criminal episode unless a conviction for a specific offense resulted. Williams v. State, 462 So.2d 36 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); Garcia v. State, 454 So.2d 714 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). However, the Court has also interpreted Rule 3.701(d)(11) to preclude consideration of offenses for which there has not been a conviction. Welker v. State, 504 So.2d 802 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987) (fact that additional drugs and a firearm were in defendant's car at the time of his arrest is not a valid reason for departure where defendant was not convicted of possession of the firearm or other drugs); Brown v. State, 509 So.2d 1342 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987) (fact that

proceeds of thefts were used to commit further crime of purchasing drugs is not a valid reason for departure where defendant was neither charged nor convicted of the further crime); Rease v. State, 485 So.2d 5 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986) (although, at time of sentencing, there was evidence tending to support a finding that the gun which was the basis for defendant's conviction for possession of a firearm by a convicted felon was stolen and defendant had attempted to escape while being transported to court for sentencing, these reasons for departure were invalid where conviction for these crimes had been obtained).

Here, the trial court relied on <u>Williams v. State</u>, 462
So.2d 36 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) and <u>Hall v. State</u>, 510 So.2d 979
(Fla. 1st DCA 1987). <u>Hall</u>, as well as the recent case of <u>Knotts</u>, <u>supra</u>, simply state the proposition that a threat to a witness is a valid reason for departure and cite to <u>Williams</u>.
However, <u>Williams</u> is in conflict with the later decisions of the Second District Court of Appeal in <u>Allen</u> and <u>McNealy</u>, supra.

Here, it is clear that the alleged actions which served as the basis for departure constitute the offense of tampering with a witness or victim. F.S. section 914.22. As this Court stated in Tyner, supra:

This language [of Rule 3.701(d)(11)] is plain. Judges may consider only that conduct of the defendant relating to an element of the offense for which he has been convicted. To hold otherwise would effectively circumvent the basic

requirement of obtaining a conviction before meting out punishment.

Id., at 406.

Respondent would urge this Court to find that a departure based on threats to the witness, for which there was no conviction at the time of sentencing, is invalid and prohibited by Rule 3.701(d)(ll), approving Allen and McNealy, and disapproving the First District Court of Appeal's decision in Williams, supra.

The second reason for departure was unscored convictions. These convictions consisted of three misdemeanors; breach of the peace, disorderly intoxication and driving under the influence, which occurred and resulted in convictions during the pendency of the instant offense. This is an invalid reason for departure because three misdemeanors do not amount to "extensive" unscored convictions. Musgrove v. State, 524 So.2d 715 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988) held that unscored convictions may be properly considered as a basis for departure only if they are "extensive." The court found that the defendant's three unscored convictions, only one of which was a felony, did not warrant departure.

Merriex, supra, cited by the District Court merely states;
"It is settled law that unscored but valid convictions can be
used as grounds for departure." Id., at 250. The unscored
conviction in Merriex was for possession of cocaine. The
decision did not discuss the "extensive" aspect of this
departure reason.

Since no valid reasons for departure exist, this sentence should be reversed and remanded for imposition of a guidelines sentence. Shull v. Dugger, 515 So.2d 748 (Fla. 1987); Pope v. State, 15 F.L.W. S243 (Fla. April 26, 1990).

#### IV CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing argument, reasoning, and citation of authority, respondent requests that this Court remand this case for imposition of a guidelines sentence.

Respectfully submitted,

BARBARA M. LINTHICUM
PUELIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

NANCY L. SHOWALTER
Fla. Bar No. 0513199
Assistant Public Defender
Leom County Courthouse
Fourth Floor North
301 S. Monroe Street
Tallahassee, Florida 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT